A4 817

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No.: 79,260

BRIAN TULLIS WILLIAMS,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE

FEB 19 1992

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRADLEY R. BISCHOFF ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL, FLORIDA BAR NO. 0714224

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES	PAGE(S)
Addison v. Holly Hill Fruit Products, 322 U.S. 607, 88 L.Ed. 1488, 64 S.Ct. 1215, rehearing denied 323 U.S. 809, 89 L.Ed. 645, 65 S.Ct. 27	(1944) 15

## Preliminary Statement

Petitioner, plaintiff/appellee below, will be referred to herein as either "the State" or "Petitioner". Respondent, Brian Tullis Williams, defendant/appellant below, will be referred to herein as "Respondent". A copy of the opinion of the case on review is attached hereto as Exhibit "A".

References to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 28, 1989, Respondent entered a plea of nolo contendere to one count of burglary of a church, one count of possession of cocaine, and one count of possession of paraphernalia. In exchange for his plea, it was agreed that Respondent would receive a 5 year habitual felony offender sentence (R 4,5). As a basis for the habitual offender sentence, the trial court relied on two prior convictions, both entered on July 18, 1985 (R 22).

On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal reversed Respondent's sentence and remanded the case for resentencing. Williams v. State, 16 F.L.W. D\_\_\_ (Fla. 1st DCA October 21, 1991). On motion for certification, the appellate court certified the following question as one of great public importance:

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(1)(a)1, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), WHICH DEFINES HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AS THOSE WHO HAVE "PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONVICTED OF TWO OR MORE FELONIES" REQUIRES THAT EACH OF THE FELONIES BE COMMITTED AFTER CONVICTION FOR THE IMMEDIATELY PREVIOUS OFFENSE?

Williams v. State, 17 F.L.W. D277 (Fla. 1st DCA January 15, 1992). Notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction was timely filed on January 17, 1992, and this Court issued a briefing schedule on January 29, 1992.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State requests that this Honorable Court answer the certified question in the negative and hold that the plain language of §775.084(1)(a)(1), Florida Statutes (1989), which requires that a defendant must have ". . . previously been convicted of any combination of two or more felonies. . . " to be sentenced as a habitual felony offender in no way requires that each of the felonies be committed after conviction for the immediately previous offense.

This result is correct because the plain language of the provision reflects the legislative intent to habitualize a defendant convicted of two or more felonies, regardless of the order of conviction. The line of cases which state that there must be an interim between convictions were based on a 1947 Florida Supreme Court case in which this Court reached this result by construing the then-existing recidivist statutory scheme which is materially different from the 1988 habitual offender statute. The 1988 and 1989 statutes on their face mandate the result arrived at by the trial judge in this case.

#### ARGUMENT

#### Issue

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(1)(a)(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), WHICH DEFINES HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AS THOSE WHO HAVE "PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONVICTED OF ANY COMBINATION OF TWO OR MORE FELONIES IN THIS STATE OR OTHER QUALIFIED OFFENSES," REQUIRES THAT EACH OF THE FELONIES BE COMMITTED AFTER CONVICTION FOR THE IMMEDIATELY PREVIOUS OFFENSE.

The State respectfully requests that this Court answer the certified question in the negative.

In the opinion below, the appellate court reversed Respondent's habitual felony offender sentence because the two predicate convictions were both entered the same day. The court relied on its recent <u>en banc opinion in Barnes v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 758 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. 77,751 (Fla.).

In <u>Barnes</u>, five dissenting judges of the court agreed that the plain meaning of §775.084(1)(a)(1), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), does not require, in order for a defendant to be sentenced as a habitual felony offender, that the underlying felony convictions must be separated in time or that the convictions be obtained in separate proceedings. The five dissenting judges recognized that since the statute is neither ambiguous nor unclear, and

Oral argument in <a href="Barnes">Barnes</a> was held on January 8, 1992.

since no other obvious legislative policy was expressed which conflicts with the statute's literal interpretation, that the plain meaning necessarily controls its construction. The dissenting judges would end the inquiry there and follow the unambiguous language of the statute.

Five of the six judges comprising the majority agreed that the plain language did not require that habitualization must be supported by sequential convictions, stating that ". . . we are aware that our holding interprets the statute in a manner that goes beyond the plain language of the provision." 16 F.L.W. at D563. These five judges reasoned, however, that

There is no indication that in amending section 775.084 the legislature sought to alter the purpose behind the habitual offender provision or to excise the sequential conviction requirement that had long been a part of the law. Had the legislature intended to overturn long-standing precedent and the construction that the courts had placed on the statute, then it was obliged to use unmistakable language to achieve its objective.

576 So.2d at 761.

The majority and the dissent, however, concurred in certifying the following question as one of great public importance:

Whether section 775.084(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), which defines

habitual felony offenders as those who have "previously been convicted of two or more felonies," requires that each of the felonies be committed after conviction for the immediately previous offense?

Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988), the statute under which Barnes was sentenced, states in pertinent part:

- (1) As used in this act:
- (a) "Habitual felony offender" means a defendant for whom the court may impose an extended term of imprisonment, as provided in this section, if it finds that:
- 1. The defendant has previously been convicted of two or more felonies in this state;
- The felony for which the defendant 2. is to be sentenced was committed within 5 years of the date of the conviction of the last prior felony or other qualified offense of which he was convicted, or of within 5 years the defendant's release, on parole or otherwise, from a commitment prison sentence or other result οf a imposed as a conviction for other а felony orqualified offense, whichever is later;
- 3. The defendant has not received a pardon for any felony or other qualified offense that is necessary for the operation of this section; and
- 4. A conviction of a felony or other qualified offense necessary to the operation of this section has not been set aside in any postconviction proceeding.

Petitioner maintains that the statute clearly provides for the sentencing of a defendant as a habitual felony offender if two or more felony convictions have been entered within five years of the instant conviction, regardless of whether the prior convictions were adventitiously entered the same day. <sup>2</sup>

Initially, §775.084, Florida Statutes (1988 Supp. and 1989) on their face clearly do not require that one previous conviction must precede another previous conviction for a defendant to qualify for habitual offender status. The 1989 statute clearly states that a defendant must only have "... previously been convicted of any combination of two or more felonies . . . " . To require that there must be an interim between the two or more convictions ignores the plain meaning of the statute and leads to an absurd result, especially where a defendant habitually engages in felonious behavior of an ongoing nature but, for one reason or another, is convicted and sentenced on one day for multiple separate offenses.

This Court has repeatedly held that unambiguous statutory language must be accorded its plain meaning.

Carson v. Miller, 370 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1979). See also Graham

v. State, 472 So.2d 464 (Fla. 1985) (when the language of a

The 1989 amendment to §775.084(1)(a)(1) does not alter this result.

penal statute is clear, plain, and without ambiguity, effect must be given to it accordingly. Where the language of a statute has a definite and precise meaning, courts are without power to restrict or extend that meaning); Jenny v. State, 447 So.2d 1351 (Fla. 1984) (where a statute is unambiguous and clear upon its face, courts must accord the statute its plain meaning and are not free to construe it otherwise); State v. Egan, 287 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) (where legislative intent as evidenced by statute is plain and unambiguous, then there is no necessity for any construction or interpretation of the statute and effect need only be given to the plain meaning of its terms. Rules of statutory construction are useful only in the case of doubt and should never be used to create doubt, but only to remove it); Leigh v. State ex rel. Kirkpatrick, 298 So.2d 215 (Fla. 1974) (when the terms and provisions of a statute are plain, there is no room for judicial or administrative interpretation, and the Legislature is presumed to have meant what it said); Ervin v. Peninsular Tel. Co., 53 So.2d 647 (Fla. 1951) (where the intent of a statute is clear on its face and when it is susceptible of but one construction, that construction must be given); Citizens of the State of Florida v. Public Service Commission, 435 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1983) (where the words of a statute are clear and unambiguous, judicial interpretation is not appropriate to displace the expressed intent); White v. Pepsico, Inc., 568 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1990)

(statutes are construed to effectuate the intent of the Legislature in light of public policy. First, the court must look to the plain and ordinary meaning of the language in the section at issue).

Before the 1988 amendment to §775.084, Florida Statutes, in order to be sentenced as a habitual felony offender, a defendant need only have been previously convicted of one felony prior to the instant conviction. See §775.084(1)(a)(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1987). The provision was amended in 1988 to provide that a habitual felony offender must previously have been convicted of two felonies prior to the instant conviction. See Chapter 88-131, Laws of Florida 1988.

The clear intent of the Legislature in amending the statute was to merely require two predicate felonies instead of one. To read into the new statutory language a requirement that did not exist in the 1987 statute and which was not even hinted at by the Legislature is patently absurd and completely rejects the plain legislative expression. This Court has held that the result of a legislative modification of a statute changes the law of Florida so that the Court's previous decisions in that regard are no longer controlling. Dees v. State, 19 So.2d 705 (Fla. 1944).

In §775.084, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988 and 1989), the Legislature specifically listed four predicate conditions for sentencing a defendant as a habitual felony offender [§775.084(1)(a) (1-4)]. The decision in Barnes effectively adds a fifth condition in direct contravention of the well-settled rule that the express mention of one thing implies exclusion of another (expressio unius est exclusio alterius). See e.g. Thayer v. State, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976).

The district court of appeal cases which have determined that prior convictions entered the same day do not qualify as the "two or more felonies" required by the 1988 version of the habitual offender statute have relied on this Court's opinion in Joyner v. State, 30 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1947), and the line of cases which follow Joyner. The rationale espoused in Joyner, however, no longer applies to the 1988 habitual offender statute. This Court's decision in Joyner was predicated on the particular configuration of the then-existing habitual offender statutory scheme found in §§775.09 and 775.10, Florida Statutes (1941), which were as follows:

775.09 Punishment for second conviction of felony. - A person who, after having been convicted within this state of a felony or an attempt to commit a felony, or under the laws of any other state, government or country, of a crime which, if committed within

this state would be a felony, commits any felony within this state is punishable upon conviction of such second offense as follows: If the subsequent felony is such that upon a first conviction the offender would be punishable by imprisonment for any term less than his natural life then such person must be sentenced to imprisonment for a term no less than the longest term nor more than twice the longest term prescribed upon a first conviction.

775.10 Punishment for fourth conviction of felony. - A person who, after having been three times convicted within this state of felonies attempts to commit felonies, or under the law of any other state, government or country of crimes which, if committed within this state, would be felonious, commits a felony within this state shall be sentenced upon conviction of such fourth or subsequent offense imprisonment in the state prison for the term of his natural life. A person to punishable under this and preceding section need not have been indicted and convicted as a previous offender order to receive in increased punishment therein provided, but may be proceeded against as provided in the following section.

In explaining this two-tiered system, the court stated:

To constitute a second or a fourth conviction within the purview of Sec. 775.10, supra, 775.09 or Sec. information or indictment must allege and the evidence must show that the offense charged in each information subsequent to the first was committed and the conviction therefor was after the date of the then preceding conviction. In other words, the second conviction must be alleged and proved to have been for a crime committed after the first conviction.

The third conviction must be alleged and proved to have been for a crime committed after both the first and second convictions, and the fourth conviction must be alleged and proved to have been for a crime committed after each of the preceding three convictions.

If there was no second offense chargeable as contemplated by the statute certainly such second conviction could not be used as a basis for charging the offense contemplated by Sec. 775.10, supra.

Sec. 1 of the 1927 Act, now Sec. 775.09, fixed the standard for the determination of the question as to whether or not one could be prosecuted as a second or subsequent offender and, as hereinbefore, said, without it being required that the second offense should have been committed after the first conviction and that the third offense should have been committed after the second conviction, and so on. Under the standard so fixed, the requirement is clearly apparent . .

Joyner, supra at 306.

The two-tiered system of habitualization for felony offenses has not existed since 1971, when the Legislature enacted Section 775.084, Fla. Stat. (1971), which stated in pertinent part that in order to be habitualized, it must be demonstrated that

(c) The defendant has previously committed a felony in this state or another qualified offense which was committed after the defendant's seventeenth birthday. For the purpose of this subsection, the term "qualified offense" includes any crime in violation

of a law of another state or of the United States that was punishable under the laws of such state or the United States at the time of its commission by the defendant by death or imprisonment exceeding one year.

(d) The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed within five years of the date of the commission of the last prior felony or other qualified offense of which he was convicted, or within five years of the defendant's release, on parole or otherwise, from a prison sentence or other commitment imposed as a result of a prior conviction for a felony or other qualified offense, whichever is later.

The 1971 change from the tiered system signaled an end to the sequential conviction requirement construed in <a href="Joyner">Joyner</a>. The Joyner court's rationale for requiring sequential convictions was twofold. The first reason was based on the configuration of the statutes:

This construction is implicit in the statutes. The statute was originally chapter 12022, Acts of 1927. The present Sections (775.09, 775.10 and 775.11, supra, were respectively sections 1, 2 and 3 of that Act, Sec. 775.09, supra) provide in terms that the second offense must have been committed subsequent to the first conviction.

Joyner, supra at 306.

The second reason was:

because the purpose of the statute is to protect society from habitual criminals who persist in the commission of crime after having been theretofore convicted and punished for crimes previously committed. It is contemplated that an opportunity for reformation is to be given after each conviction.

Joyner, supra at 306.

Petitioner submits that there is no indication whatsoever that the "opportunity for reformation" policy of the halcyon days of the 1940s continues to apply to the crime-ridden 1990s. The majority opinion in <u>Barnes</u> finds that there has been no change in this policy, stating:

Having examined the staff analyses for the Senate and House Committee on Criminal Justice, we find no indication of a shift in legislative intent, nor is there a suggestion that the change in language was directed at the sequential See conviction requirement. Senate Staff Analysis, S. Bill 307, June 1, Representatives 1988, p.2; House οf Committee on Criminal Justice, Analysis, H. Bill 1710, May 20, 1988, pp.1-2.

576 So.2d at 762.

This reasoning is astonishing in that it elevates the role of the legislative staff above that of the Legislature itself. The Legislature has taken the ground out from under the <u>Joyner</u> sequential conviction rationale by deleting the language and the tiered system on which it rested. The court below holds that enactment of the amended statute is not enough, that it must be accompanied by a staff report stating that deletion of the language overrules judicial

decisions based on the deleted language. There is no rule of statutory interpretation requiring that unambiguous language be "explained" by a staff report.

It can equally be argued that the silence of the staff report indicates no intent to retain the outdated <u>Joyner</u> policy in the face of unmistakable statutory language to the contrary. See Senate Staff Analysis, S. Bill 307, June 1, 1988, attached hereto as Exhibit "C". The State maintains that judicial policy is inadequate to overturn clear legislative language.

The United States Supreme Court has held that courts should be faithful to the meaning of a statute, and, if legislative policy is couched in vague language, a court should not stifle a policy by a pedantic process of construction, but the court cannot draw on some unexpressed spirit outside of the normal meaning of the words. Addison v. Holly Hill Fruit Products, 322 U.S. 607, 88 L.Ed. 1488, 64 S.Ct. 1215, rehearing denied 323 U.S. 809, 89 L.Ed. 645, 65 S.Ct. 27 (1944).

This Court has held that it has a duty to interpret the law as given to it by the people in the constitution or by the Legislature, and is not permitted to substitute judicial cerebration for the law or command the enforcement of that which the Supreme Court might think the law should be. In

re Investigation of Circuit Judge of Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Fla., 93 So.2d 601 (Fla. 1957).

The district courts of appeal which have addressed the issue at bar before <u>Barnes</u> have considered themselves bound by the rationale espoused in <u>Joyner</u> in 1947, even though the statutory scheme on which <u>Joyner</u> was based has changed in a material way. Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1974 Supp.) stated, in pertinent part:

775.084 Subsequent felony offenders; extended terms.-

- (1) Unless otherwise specifically provided by statute, the court, after reasonable notice to the parties and opportunity to be heard, may sentence a person who has been convicted of a felony within this state to the punishments provided in this section if it finds all the following:
- (a) The imposition of sentence under this section is necessary for the protection of the public from further criminal activity by the defendant;
- The defendant has previously committed felony or has twice of previously been convicted misdemeanor of the first degree in this state or another qualified offense which was committed after the defendant's 18th For the purpose of this birthday. subsection, the term "qualified offense" includes any offense in violation of a law of another state or of the United States that was punishable under the laws of such state or the United States at the time of its commission by the by death or imprisonment defendant exceeding 1 year or that was equivalent in penalty to a misdemeanor of the first degree;

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