FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 4 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 79,260

BRIAN TULLIS WILLIAMS,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
FLORIDA BAR #197890
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

AFFIRMED in part, and REVERSED and REMANDED for trial by jury. (ALLEN AND WOLF, JJ., CONCUR.)

Criminal law—Sentencing—Habitual offender—Question certified whether section 775.084(1)(a)1, Florida statutes (1989), which defines habitual felony offenders as those who have "previously been convicted of two or more felonies" requires that each of the felonies be committed after conviction for the immediately previous offense

BRIAN TULLIS WILLIAMS, Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee. 1st District. Case No. 90-1335. Opinion filed January 15, 1992. An Appeal from the Circuit Court for Escambia County. Frank L. Bell, Judge. Keith D. Cooper, Pensacola, for appellant. Bradley Bischoff, Assistant Attorney General, Tallahassee, for appellee.

OPINION ON MOTION FOR CLARIFICATION AND CERTIFICATION [Original Opinion at 16 F.L.W. D2711] (PER CURIAM.) Appellant's motion for clarification and certification is granted. Our previous opinion is amended to reflect that counsel of record for the appellee is Bradley Bischoff, Assistant Attorney General.

As we did in *Barnes v. State*, 576 So.2d 758 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (en banc), review pending, case number 77,751. (Fla. 1991), we certify the following question as a question of great public importance.

WHETHER SECTION 775.084(1)(a)1, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), WHICH DEFINES HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AS THOSE WHO HAVE "PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONVICTED OF TWO OR MORE FELONIES" REQUIRES THAT EACH OF THE FELONIES BE COMMITTED AFTER CONVICTION FOR THE IMMEDIATELY PREVIOUS OFFENSE?

(JOANOS, C.J., BOOTH and SHIVERS, JJ., CONCUR.)

Insurance-Attorney's fees-Multiple-employer welfare arrangement is an insurer for purpose of award of attorney's fees upon rendition of judgment against insurer in favor of insured who is one of group of persons insured under a master group health insurance policy—Federal preemption—Employee Retirement Income Security Act-If record established that MEWA at issue in instant case complied with ERISA, applicable federal law would preclude assessment of attorney's fees pursuant to state statute-Preemption is question of subject matter jurisdiction which may be raised for first time on appeal when resolution of the issue does not require factual determinations by appellate court-MEWA waived preemption issue by failing to show that plan in question was consistent with federal law definition of ERISA plans and was included within coverage definition FLORIDA AUTOMOBILE DEALERS INDUSTRY BENEFIT TRUST, Appellant, v. ROOSEVELT N. SMALL, Appellee. 1st District. Case No. 90-3129. Opinion filed January 15, 1992. An Appeal from the Circuit Court for Okaloosa County. Robert G. Barron, Judge. William C. Owen and Loula M. Fuller, of Carlton, Fields, Ward, Emmanuel, Smith & Cutler, Tallahassee, for Appellant. Walter A. Steigleman, Ft. Walton Beach, for Appellee.

ON MOTION FOR REHEARING [Original Opinion at 16 F.L.W. D2136]

(ERVIN, J.) Appellant's motion for rehearing is denied; our opinion of August 12, 1991 is, however, withdrawn and the following opinion substituted therefor.

Appellant, Florida Automobile Dealers Industry Benefit Trust (FADIBT), appeals an order of the trial court awarding prevailing-party attorney's fees to appellee, Roosevelt N. Small, who prevailed on his claim that FADIBT wrongfully refused to pay his hospital and medical expenses following an accident. FADIBT contends that the attorney's-fee statutes of Chapter 627, Florida Statutes, do not apply to it because it is a self-insurer. We affirm.

FADIBT contends that it is a multiple-employer welfare arrangement (MEWA), established, pursuant to Sections 624.436 through 624.446, Florida Statutes (1989), by a group of automobile dealerships in accordance with the federal Employee Retirement Income Security Act. The issue at trial was whether FADIBT, a self-insurer, is subject to the attorney's fee provisions of Sections 627.428 and 627.6698, Florida Statutes (1989), which refer to insurers rather than self-insurers. After an evidentiary hearing, the trial court entered a judgment in favor of Small, awarding him attorney's fees and costs, and FADIBT filed a notice of appeal. Six days later, the trial court entered an order that was consistent with the prior final judgment, except that it specified that Small was entitled to attorney's fees pursuant to section 627.6698.

We first point out that our review of this case has been impeded by appellee's failure to file an answer brief, an omission that placed an undue burden on this court. Title & Trust Co. of Fla. v. Salameh, 407 So.2d 1035, 1035-36 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

Nevertheless, we conclude that attorney's fees were properly

¹The only authorized pleadings are a complaint or petition and an answer to it; answers to counterclaims and crossclaims; third party complaints and answers; and a reply. See Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.100(a).

²See Wertman, 166 So.2d at 667-68.

³Although a party is not ordinarily entitled to a jury trial in actions in equity, For Adults Only, Inc. v. State ex rel. Gerstein, 257 So.2d 912 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972), cert. denied, 292 So.2d 592 (Fla. 1974), an action for replevin entitles a party to jury trial. Blackburn v. Blackburn, 393 So.2d 51 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981).

An Appellee. 1st District. Case No. 90-03832. Opinion filed in An Appeal from an Order of Judge of Compensation Claims Vicere A. Marshall and J. Larry Hanks of Jeffery, Thomas Martiand, for Appellants. Ronson J. Petree of Whitaker, Orlando, for Appellee.

This cause is before us on appeal from a final order expensation benefits for injuries sustained by claimming on a softball team sponsored by the employer, The sole issue presented is whether the injury arose the course of claimant's employment. § 440.02(16), [1539].

composed primarily of employees, with some employees and other nonemployees. None of the employees are the essions were held during work hours or on the extree sessions were held during work hours or on the employee. On January 2, 1990, claimant began work erson for Copytronics and shortly thereafter, was even the company-sponsored softball team. On January claimant was injured while playing in a softball and a claim for workers' compensation benefits that a controverted.

wanng, claimant testified that the employer did not to play softball, and he was not required to be on the testified he would often discuss business at local and bars after the games and that he received one lead to the softbard softball.

hates, a former employee, testified that conversate names were mostly company gossip concerning feast and winning contests. Ms. Bates further testified seconds of leads were obtained at the games and that the mented in a number of ways, such as by employtalking and thinking about work. The order on testimony of the Employee/Claimants [sic] witnesses have testified that the Employer benefitted [sic] from

thus previously adopted Professor Larson's threeter compensability of injuries occurring during recreexculactivities. This test requires that:

regular incident of the employment; or

employer, by expressly or impliedly requiring particor by making the activity part of the services of an emlings the activity within the orbit of the employment; or
comployer derives substantial direct benefit from the
expond the intangible value of improvement in employee
morale that is common to all kinds of recreation and

recies on the third alternative of Larson's test, but our record fails to reveal a "substantial direct benefit" receiver from claimant's participation in the games. In City of Dania, 428 So. 2d 745, 746 (Fla. 1st DCA court held that:

mant] has failed to demonstrate that the [employer] in the stantial direct benefit? from the game beyond the benefit of improvement of employee morale common of recreational activity.

interestionaractivity.

It is intangible, undefined benefits referred to here and case. Advertising, publicity, and financial benefits of those types of benefits that can be shown and discient.

where of the kind of findings necessary to show a sublimit benefit are those recited in *Bari Italian Food v.* 50, 2d 255, 256 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), which held

the interpretation in the impact of the received advertising and publicity benefits from the

team's efforts. He found that the uniforms displayed the company name; team members, other employees of the company, wives and girlfriends went to various pizza parlors that were clients of the company after the games; sales representatives from the company who handled the pizza parlors' account also attended those postgame activities; the wives and girlfriends wore T-shirts, identifying the company and matching the company's jerseys worn by the players, to the games and to the postgame activities. Placing great significance on the fact that the company is a small family owned corporation which benefited perhaps to a greater extent than a large corporation from such a team endeavor, and due also to the fact that the team patronized company customers as a group following the games, the DC concluded that the company benefited from the teams' efforts to the extent that this injury should be deemed compensable.

Accordingly, the order below is reversed and the cause remanded with directions that the claim be dismissed. (BARFIELD AND MINER, JJ., CONCUR.)

¹1A A. Larson, Workmen's Compensation Law § 22.00 (1990); Brockman v. City of Dania, 428 So. 2d 745 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

Criminal law—Sentencing—Habitual offender sentence cannot be predicated on prior convictions which occurred on same day—Appeals—Appellate court has jurisdiction to hear defendant's argument that sentence is illegal—Contemporaneous objection not required to raise issue of illegal sentence on direct appeal—Plea agreement stating that defendant would be sentenced as habitual offender only if trial court found him qualified for such sentence did not constitute waiver of right to appeal habitual offender sentence—Defendant could appeal illegal sentence even if sentence was agreed upon in plea bargain

BRIAN TULLIS WILLIAMS, Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee. 1st District. Case No. 90-1335. Opinion filed October 21, 1991. An appeal from the Circuit Court for Escambia County. Frank L. Bell, Judge. Keith D. Cooper, Pensacola, for appellant. James Rogers, Assistant Attorney General, Tallahassee, for appellee.

(PER CURIAM.) Appellant argues his sentence as a habitual felony offender is illegal because his two prior felony convictions occurred on the same date. We agree, vacate appellant's sentence and remand for resentencing.

Appellant was originally charged with burglary of a structure, possession of cocaine and possession of drug paraphernalia. He reached a plea agreement with the state. The agreement called for appellant to enter a plea of nolo contendere to all three charges. The agreement further provided that if the trial court found that appellant qualified as a habitual offender under section 775.084, Florida Statutes, appellant would be sentenced as follows:

A) Burglary - 5 years imprisonment followed by five years probation.

B) Possession of cocaine - 5 years probation to be served concurrent to the other probation.

C) Possession of paraphernalia - 1 year in jail to be served concurrent to the other jail sentence.

However, if the trial court did not find appellant qualified as a habitual offender, appellant would receive a guidelines sentence. The guidelines scoresheet in the record reflects a total score of 59 points, which corresponds with a sentence of community control or 12 to 30 months incarceration.²

At the sentencing hearing appellant moved to withdraw his plea to the possession of cocaine charge because the lab report came back negative as to cocaine. The trial court granted appellant's motion and the state nolle prossed that count. Before imposing sentence on the remaining two counts the court heard argument from counsel for both sides. The state argued that appellant qualified as a habitual offender because he had two prior felony convictions, one for burglary of a conveyance and one for grand theft. The state conceded and the record clearly reflects that both of the prior convictions were entered on the

same date. The court asked appellant's counsel whether the two provictions qualified appellant for sentencing as a habitual offender. Appellant's counsel "conceded" the two prior convictions qualified appellant as a habitual offender. Counsel argued, however, that the spirit of the statute was not met because appellant only had one prior felony incident. Appellant's counsel argued that the legislature did not intend to punish such persons as habitual offenders. The trial court rejected the argument and appellant received a sentence of five years in prison followed by five years probation for the burglary charge and one year in jail for the possession charge, both terms to be served concurrently.

On appeal appellant argues that the two prior felony convictions, both of which occurred on the same day, are not a sufficient predicate to qualify appellant as a habitual felony offender. We agree. Barnes v. State, 576 So.2d 758 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)

(En banc).

The state argues appellant "abandoned" his statutory right to appeal by pleading nolo contendere without expressly reserving his right to appeal. In support of that argument the state cites to Brown v. State, 376 So.2d 382 (Fla. 1979), Robinson v. State, 373 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1979) and section 924.06(3), Florida Statutes. We are not sure what the state means by "abandoned," but if the state is arguing we have no jurisdiction we reject the argument for the reasons expressed in Walker v. State, 579 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).³ If the state is arguing the appellant "abandoned" his right to appeal because no contemporaneous objection was made to the sentence, we also reject that argument because no objection was required. Without the necessary predicate convictions appellant's sentence as a habitual offender is illegal. No objection is required to raise the issue of an illegal ce on direct appeal. Larson v. State, 572 So.2d 1368, Fla. 1991); State v. Whitfield, 487 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 1986); Rhoden v. State, 448 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 1984).5

The state also argues appellant waived the right to appeal his sentence because "appellant expressly agreed to be sentenced as a habitual felony offender." That is not what the record reflects. The written plea agreement in the record signed by appellant specifically states that appellant agreed to be sentenced as a habitual felony offender only if the trial court found that appellant qualified for such sentencing under the statute. Moreover, even if appellant had agreed to be sentenced as a habitual offender he could still appeal if he did not actually qualify as a habitual offender. "A trial court cannot impose an illegal sentence pursuant to a plea bargain." Williams v. State, 500 So.2d 501, 503 (Fla. 1986).

Since we have decided that appellant's sentence is illegal because of the lack of the requisite predicate, we need not address the other issue raised by appellant.

Accordingly, we vacate appellant's sentence and remand for resentencing. (JOANOS, C.J. and SHIVERS, J., CONCUR. BOOTH, J., DISSENTS.)

¹There are two written agreements in the record; only one is signed by appellant.

There are two scoresheets in the record. The other reflects a total score of 61 points. We are not sure which, if either, is correct.

We note that in Caristi v. State, 578 So.2d 769 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) the state argued that the sole avenue for challenging an illegal sentence was by direct appeal and if not raised on direct appeal could not be raised in a collateral proceeding. That appears to be inconsistent with the state's position in this case and in Walker.

We agree with the dissent that no objection was made.

So. 1, 502 (Fla. 1986) does prohibit the defendant and the state from entering into an agreement which provides for an illegal sentence.

"The "concession" by appellant's counsel that appellant's two prior convictions qualified appellant as a habitual felony offender was legally incorrect and makes no difference in the result. If appellant cannot agree to an illegal sentence, he cannot concede to an illegal sentence.

(BOOTH, J., DISSENTING.) The instant case differs signifi-

cantly from Barnes v. State, 576 So. 2d 758 (Fla. 1991), relied on by appellant. In Barnes, the defendant to and preserved the habitual offender issue by specific object based on his being placed on probation for both prior feice.

In the instant case, defendant entered into a plea action that included habitual felony offender status. Nothing in the office this state prohibits a defendant from entering into agreement, and it should be upheld by this court.

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